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OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:

Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition is the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement (RSA) filed on October 27, 2011, by the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff and Bureau of 


Transportation and Safety’s Gas Safety Division (collectively Prosecutory Staff)[footnoteRef:1] and Equitable Gas Company, LLC, (Equitable)[footnoteRef:2] (collectively, the Parties), with respect to an informal investigation conducted by the Prosecutory Staff. [1: 	By Order entered August 11, 2011, at Docket No. M-2008-2071852, the Commission transferred certain legal staff of the Law Bureau and the technical staff of the former Bureau of Transportation and Safety’s Gas Safety Division to the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (BI&E).  As such, the term “Prosecutory Staff” will be used throughout this Opinion and Order to refer to the legal and technical staff who previously were assigned to the Law Bureau and the former Bureau of Transportation and Safety, respectively, and who are now currently assigned to BI&E.]  [2: 	Equitable Gas Company, LLC was formerly a division of Equitable Resources. Inc., prior to a reorganization approved by the Commission at Docket No. A-121100F0006.  The incidents in question and the violations alleged herein took place prior to the reorganization.] 


History of the Proceeding

On May 11, 2009, the Parties filed an Initial Settlement Agreement for the purpose of resolving alleged multiple violations of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) and the rules and regulations of the Commission relative to natural gas pipeline safety.  The specific incidents addressed in the Initial Settlement Agreement occurred on the following dates: (1) from June 21, 2007 to August 16, 2007; (2) from May 29, 2007 to July 20, 2007; and (3) on February 14, 2008.  In lieu of litigating the accusations set forth in the Initial Settlement Agreement the Parties agreed, among other things, that Equitable would pay $65,000 into the Hardship Repair Fund.  

In our tentative Opinion and Order entered on November 25, 2009   (November 2009 Order), we provided an opportunity for interested Parties to file comments to our preliminary view that the Initial Settlement Agreement should be modified by requiring Equitable to pay an additional $65,000 as a civil penalty pursuant to 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301
On December 15, 2009, Equitable filed Comments expressing its objection to the modified Initial Settlement Agreement.  By Opinion and Order entered on         May 10, 2010 (May 2010 Order), we indicated that we were not persuaded by Equitable’s Comments and concluded that modification of the Initial Settlement Agreement, consistent with our Opinion and Order of November 25, 2009, is in the public interest.  More specifically, we stated:

Upon further review of the terms of the [Initial] Settlement and Equitable’s Comments thereto, we continue to believe that the nature of the incident[s] and the alleged violations of federal and state gas safety regulations merit a greater penalty than that agreed to by the Parties.  Ensuring that our public utilities operate safely is of the utmost importance to us and is a task that the Legislature has entrusted to this Commission.  

Based on our review of the alleged violations, but because it is in the public interest to settle this matter to avoid the expense of litigation, we are of the opinion that it is reasonable to assess a penalty totaling $130,000, rather than the $65,000 penalty agreed to by the Parties of the [Initial] Settlement and as set forth in our of November 25, 2009 Order.

May 2010 Order at 12-13.  As such, we directed Equitable, inter alia, to pay a civil penalty of $65,000 and also to pay an additional $65,000 into the Equitable Hardship Repair Fund[footnoteRef:3] within thirty days of the date of entry of the May 10, 2010 Order. [3: 	The Hardship Repair Fund assists customers with house line, service line, and furnace repairs and replacements, and with installation of thermostats for the visually impaired.  This is a fund of last resort and is used when the Commonwealth’s Crisis Program is closed.  Recipients must qualify as low income but need not be in Equitable’s customer assistance program. ] 


On June 9, 2010, Equitable filed a letter stating that it was exercising its option to withdraw from the Initial Settlement Agreement.

By Secretarial Letter dated February 22, 2011, we acknowledged Equitable’s withdrawal from the Initial Settlement Agreement noting the following:

Upon Equitable’s withdrawal from the Settlement Agreement on June 9, 2010, this proceeding reverted to its status as an Informal Investigation.  The conditions and any penalties mandated and assessed by the May 10, 2010 Opinion and Order have been effectively nullified by Equitable’s withdrawal from the Settlement Agreement, a possibility recognized in the May 10, 2010 Opinion and Order.          May 10, 2010 Opinion and Order at 9.  At this point in time, the matter is returned to the Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff to examine the facts and issues raised in the Informal Investigation and take whatever further action may be warranted.

On October 27, 2011, the Parties filed a Renegotiated Settlement Agreement (RSA), which is the subject of this Opinion and Order.

Discussion

A.	The Renegotiated Settlement Agreement

The Renegotiated Settlement Agreement pertains to exactly the same alleged violations that were included in the Initial Settlement Agreement.  As such, we will not discuss the specific violations herein; rather we refer the reader to our May 2010 Order for a detailed discussion of the specific alleged violations.  Nevertheless, as will be discussed in more detail below, it is important to note at the onset of this discussion that the primary difference between the two Settlement Agreements is that under the terms of the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement, Equitable is now agreeing to pay a civil penalty of $5,000 in addition to a $65,000 payment to its Hardship Repair Fund.  As previously noted, the terms of the Initial Settlement Agreement required Equitable to only make a payment of $65,000 to its Hardship Repair Fund; the terms of the Commission-modified Initial Settlement Agreement required Equitable to make a payment of $65,000 to its Hardship Repair Fund and also to pay a $65,000 penalty to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s General Fund.  Similar to its position in the Initial Settlement Agreement, Equitable does not admit to any of the alleged federal or Commission violations.  However, the Parties do agree, in the interest of compromise and cooperation, that the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement is in the public interest because it would eliminate costly and time consuming litigation that may have uncertain results.                            RSA at 15, ¶¶ 47, 48.

The Parties further assert the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement is proper, reasonable, and in the public interest because, inter alia, Equitable has undertaken and completed to the satisfaction of the Commission’s Gas Safety Division all of the procedural and training requirements that were agreed to in the Initial Settlement Agreement and affirmed by the Commission as appropriate in its 2009 and 2010 Orders.[footnoteRef:4]  RSA at 15-16, ¶ 49. [4: 	See, May 2010 Order at 7-10; RSA at 16-17, ¶ 49.] 


The Prosecutory Staff further believes that Equitable’s cooperation and efforts in response to the Gas Safety Division’s concerns relative to a number of natural gas service users that are not Equitable’s customers, who faced potentially questionable supply in the 2011-2012 heating season, provides further justification to adopt the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement.  RSA at 18, ¶ 51.  With Equitable’s time and effort invested, the Gas Safety Division was able to gather sufficient information to independently address the situation to its own satisfaction.  Id.

The Parties further state that, in the process of renegotiation, the factors set forth in 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201 were considered.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201 (Factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations—statement of policy) (Policy Statement).  Specifically, the Parties reviewed the nature and consequences of the alleged conduct, the number of customers affected, Equitable’s compliance history and the corrective procedures Equitable has implemented, Equitable’s cooperation with the Commission, and the amount necessary not only to deter future violations but to recognize possible violations in the past.  Thus the Parties aver that the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement was negotiated over a long period of time and recognizes Equitable’s good faith efforts to comply with the regulations.  RSA at 19, ¶ 56.

Equitable believes that the Prosecutory Staff’s willingness to accept a civil penalty of $5,000 takes into consideration the efforts of Equitable since the commencement of the informal investigation and following the May 2010 Order modification to the Initial Settlement Agreement.  RSA at 19, 20, ¶ 57.  The Parties also believe that the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement is reflective of Equitable’s compliance with the other conditions of the Initial Settlement Agreement which required modification of internal procedures to prevent problems in the future, including, inter alia, the establishment of appropriate written procedures for preventive and mitigative measures and the retraining of employees and contractors in the requirements of such procedures.  Id.  

The Parties further contend that, in light of the actions taken and commitments made by Equitable subsequent to the incidents in question and the entry of the November 2009 and May 2010 Orders, it is appropriate and in the public interest to resolve and close this informal investigation as represented in the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement, with Equitable making a payment of $65,000 to the Hardship Repair Fund, as agreed to in the Initial Settlement Agreement, and the imposition of an additional but reduced amount of $5,000 as a civil penalty.  RSA at 18, ¶ 52.  Although Equitable continues to disagree with the Commission’s modification to the Initial Settlement Agreement, Equitable claims it has fully cooperated with the Prosecutory Staff and accepts the additional civil monetary obligation of $5,000 in the interest of continued compromise and cooperation with the Prosecutory Staff.  RSA at 19, 20, ¶ 57.

The Parties also submit that the proposed Renegotiated Settlement Agreement is in the public interest and complies with the Commission’s Policy Statement.  RSA at 18, ¶ 54.  The Renegotiated Settlement Agreement is contingent upon Commission approval without modification, and if modified, either Party may elect to withdraw from the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement.  RSA at 21; ¶ ¶ 59, 60.

Disposition

Upon our review of the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement, we are of the opinion that the $5,000 penalty is inadequate in light of the circumstances in this proceeding and, for the reasons that follow, we will reject the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement.

First, it is important to note that one of the alleged violations as presented in the Initial Settlement Agreement and Renegotiated Settlement Agreement is as follows:

a.	From on or before June 21, 2007, up to and including August 16, 2007, the date of Mr. Graeser’s last inspection, Respondent’s [Equitable’s] integrity management program did not have a written procedure for preventive and mitigative measures to prevent damages to transmission pipelines operating at less than 30% of SMYS in class 3 and class 4 areas as required by the federal regulations, even though Respondent [Equitable] knew that such a procedure was required.



If proven, the above omission by Respondent [Equitable] would constitute a violation of 49 CFR § 192.907(a) implementation of integrity management plan and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33-Safety.

b.	If proven, each day of non-compliance would constitute a separate violation pursuant to 66 Pa.                C.S. § 3301(b) Civil Penalties, Continuing Violations.

RSA at 5, ¶¶ 19.a. – 19.b.

The applicable section of the federal regulations provides as follows:

(a) No later than December 17, 2004, an operator of a covered pipeline segment must develop and follow a written integrity management program that contains all the elements described in §192.911 and that addresses the risks on each covered transmission pipeline segment.  The initial integrity management program must consist, at a minimum, of a framework that describes the process for implementing each program element, how relevant decisions will be made and by whom, a time line for completing the work to implement the program element, and how information gained from experience will be continuously incorporated into the program.  The framework will evolve into a more detailed and comprehensive program.  An operator must make continual improvements to the program. 

49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a).

The Prosecutory Staff alleges that from December 17, 2004, Equitable was not in compliance with 49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a) regarding a written integrity management program, until after the Commission’s gas safety inspection on August 16, 2007.
 
As stated above, the Prosecutory Staff alleges that Equitable was in non-compliance with 49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a)-Implementation of Integrity Management Plan, as well as 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 – Safety, from on or before June 21, 2007, until       August 16, 2007, or for a minimum of approximately fifty-five days.  An argument could be made that Equitable was not in compliance with this federal regulation from its effective date of December 17, 2004, until sometime after the Commission’s gas safety inspection on August 16, 2007, or for approximately 972 days.  The potential maximum penalty for a violation of this duration under Section 3301(b) of the Public Utility Code (Code) 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(b), could be significantly greater than the amount imposed by the Commission’s May 2010 Order.  However, the Parties’ reliance on Section 3301(b) relative to continuing offences is incorrect.  The proper section of the Code relative to non-compliance with gas pipeline safety regulations is Section 3301(c) which states:

 (c)  Gas pipeline safety violations.--Any person or corporation, defined as a public utility in this part, who violates any provisions of this part governing the safety of pipeline or conduit facilities in the transportation of natural gas, flammable gas, or gas which is toxic or corrosive, or of any regulation or order issued thereunder, shall be subject to a civil penalty of not to exceed $10,000 for each violation for each day that the violation persists, except that the maximum civil penalty shall not exceed $500,000 for any related series of violations.  

66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(c).

If this section of the Code were used to calculate an appropriate penalty, the resulting penalty would greatly exceed that imposed by our May 2010 Order even if the shorter fifty-five-day period is used.

We agree that the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement at ¶¶ 49, 50 supports Equitable’s compliance with the non-financial conditions of the Initial Settlement Agreement.  However, the alleged safety violations initially were discovered in       August of 2007, and there is no evidence that Equitable attempted to remedy any of those alleged violations between their 2007 discovery during a gas safety investigation and the issuance of the Commission’s November 2009 Order in this matter.  Although we extend our appreciation to Equitable for its recent cooperation in resolving various issues to the satisfaction of our Gas Safety Division, we note that such recent cooperation and resulting remedies do not absolve Equitable from the alleged inadequacies of its past procedures and practices.  In this regard, the $65,000 penalty was assessed based on Equitable’s past alleged violations and we are of the opinion that it is not prudent to reduce this penalty based on the ensuing actions Equitable has undertaken.  We do not want to establish a precedent whereby a utility that has been assessed a penalty could forego the payment of that penalty based on its subsequent actions.  As such, we remain of the opinion that, in accordance with the rationale in our May 2010 Order, as restated below, the $65,000 penalty is warranted.

Compliance with Commission’s Policy Statement

Pursuant to our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  The Prosecutory Staff and Equitable provided a detailed analysis of the proposed Renegotiated Settlement Agreement in light of the Commission’s Policy Statement.  However, the Commission must review proposed settlements to determine whether the terms are in the public interest.  Pa. PUC v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket No. M-00031768 (Order entered January 7, 2004);  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201.  In the process of negotiating the RSA, the Parties assert that the factors set forth in 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201 were considered.  RSA at 19, ¶ 56.  

The first factor we consider is whether the conduct at issue is of a serious nature.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(1).  “When conduct of a serious nature is involved, such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as administrative filing or technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.”

In our May 2010 Order, we found that the conduct at issue was of a serious nature as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(1).  May 2010 Order at 11.  The serious nature of Equitable’s non-compliance with federal gas pipeline safety regulations at 49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a) - Implementation of Integrity Management Plan, was not, in our opinion, mitigated by Equitable’s compliance with other non-financial requirements of the Initial Settlement Agreement.  This federal regulation was to be implemented by Equitable no later than December 17, 2004.  It appears that Equitable may have been in non-compliance from December 17, 2004, until discovered on August 16, 2007, or for approximately two years and eight months, or 972 days.  

Due to an earlier incident, on July 20, 2007, Commission Gas Safety Division personnel inspected Equitable’s records and visited the site relative to the      May 29, 2007 natural gas release and fire.  May 2010 Order at 5.  Based upon the site inspection, the Commission Staff concluded that Equitable did not have sufficient and necessary anchors and support on the installed coupling assembly which caused the coupling assembly to fail.  Id.  Commission Staff further concluded that Equitable did not prevent undue strain on the coupling assembly and did not have enough supports or anchors to protect the exposed pipe joints from the maximum longitudinal forces caused by a bend or offset in the pipe.  Id.  At all times relevant to this matter, Commission Staff found that Equitable failed to have an established written procedure for adequate support and anchors to resist longitudinal forces caused by a bend or offset in the pipe as mandated by Federal Pipeline Safety Regulations at 49 C.F.R. § 192.161.[footnoteRef:5]  Id.  Additionally, Commission Staff alleges that Equitable failed to reduce the pressure on the line in the face of the impending emergency in violation of 52 Pa. Code § 59.33-Safety.  If proven, the foregoing conduct would be in violation of: 49 C.F.R. § 192.143-General Requirements and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33-Safety; 49 C.F.R. § 192.161-Supports and Anchors and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33-Safety; 49 C.F.R. § 192.30- Compliance with Specifications or Standards and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33-Safety.   [5: 		 Part 192 - Org., Aug. 19, 1970, as amended by Amdt. 192-27, 41 FR 34598, Aug. 16, 1976; Amdt. 192-58, 53 FR 1633, Jan. 21, 1988.
] 


As in our May 2010 Order, we continue to believe that the alleged violations at issue are of a serious nature as contemplated by 52 Pa.                             Code § 69.1201(c)(1).  May 2010 Order at 11.  The serious nature of Equitable’s alleged non-compliance with the federal gas pipeline safety regulations at 49 C.F.R. § 192.161- Supports and Anchors, was not, in our opinion, mitigated by Equitable’s compliance with other requirements of the now defunct Initial Settlement Agreement.  Section 192.161 of the federal gas pipeline safety regulations has been in its most recent form since    January 21, 1988.   We believe that Equitable’s alleged failure, apparently since 1988, to have an established written procedure for adequate support and anchors as mandated by federal gas pipeline safety regulations represented a conscious decision.  Based upon the limited record of this proceeding it appears that Equitable’s non-compliance with this federal regulation may have persisted from January 18, 1988 until July 20, 2007, or for approximately 7,113 days.  This could warrant the imposition of a higher or perhaps the maximum civil penalty for each day of non-compliance.

The second factor we consider is whether the resulting consequences of the conduct are serious in nature.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(2).  In our May 2010 Order, we found that the resulting consequences of the two incidents described above were of a serious nature as contemplated by 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(1).  May 2010 Order at 11.   Consequently, we believe that the Parties’ agreement to reduce the $65,000 civil penalty is not in the public interest.  This factor supports a higher penalty.

The third factor, whether the conduct was intentional or unintentional, is not applicable here because it pertains only to litigated proceedings.  
52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(3). 

The fourth factor we consider is whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future.  The amount of time it took the utility to correct the conduct once it was discovered and the involvement of top-level management in correcting the conduct may be considered.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(4).  This factor has been affirmatively addressed by the proposed RSA.  Equitable has complied with the Prosecutory Staff’s requests to review and, where necessary, to revise its procedures and/or retrain its workforce.  RSA at 16, 17, ¶ 49.  We agree that Equitable has made efforts to modify and improve its internal practices and procedures as a result of the ISA.  This factor however, does not support a lower penalty amount due to the length of time it appears that Equitable was not in compliance with the federal gas pipeline safety regulations.

The fifth factor we consider is the number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(5).  Here, only one customer was affected.  This factor supports a lower penalty amount.

The sixth factor relates to Equitable’s compliance history with the Commission.  An isolated incident from an otherwise compliant utility may result in a lower penalty, whereas frequent, recurrent violations by a utility may result in a higher penalty.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(6).  Equitable has an excellent compliance history with the Commission, which supports a lower penalty amount.

The seventh factor relates to whether the utility cooperated with the Commission’s investigation.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(7).  The RSA was accomplished in a cooperative manner through Equitable’s work with the Prosecutory Staff and the Commission’s Gas Safety Division.  RSA at 15, ¶ 49.  This factor supports a lower penalty amount.

The eighth factor involves consideration of whether the penalty amount is sufficient to help deter future violations.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(8).  Here, Equitable has agreed to pay a civil penalty of $5,000 and to contribute $65,000 to its Hardship Repair Fund.  Additionally, Equitable has complied with the other conditions of the ISA.  We find however, that based upon the duration of the alleged violations discussed above, the proposed civil penalty of $5,000 is insufficient to help deter similar future violations.

The ninth factor examines whether the results of a proposed settlement are consistent with past Commission decisions in similar situations.  52 Pa. 
Code § 69.1201(c)(9).  Based on our review of recent Commission-approved settlements, we find the violations at issue here are unique to the ISA and RSA.  As such similar situations have not been previously addressed by the Commission.

The tenth standard provides that the Commission may consider other relevant factors in assessing a penalty.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(10).  We are not aware of any other relevant factors.

When considering the propriety of a financial penalty, we are cognizant of the fact that the primary purpose of a penalty is to influence future behavior and to ensure that similar events are avoided in the future.  We do not agree with the lesser amount of civil penalty as proposed by the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement and do not believe that any reduction from the civil penalty proposed by our May 2010 Order is in the public interest.  As explained above, Equitable allegedly was non-compliant with several important federal gas pipeline safety regulations for extended periods of time.

Additionally, it appears from the record that, beginning on             December 17, 2004, Equitable’s integrity management program did not have a written procedure for preventive and mitigative measures to prevent damages to transmission pipelines operating at less than thirty percent of Specified Minimum Yield Strength (SMYS) in class 3 and class 4 areas as required by section 192.907(a) of the federal regulations, 49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a), even though Equitable knew that such a procedure was required.  RSA at 5, ¶ 19a.

It is important to recognize that the alleged violations remain unchanged from the Initial Settlement Agreement, and that the only settlement term renegotiated by the Parties is the amount of the civil penalty.  Additionally, the Commission would be well within its discretion to impose an even more substantial civil penalty pursuant to Section 3301(c) of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(c).  We understand that it is in the public interest to settle this matter to avoid the expense of litigation; however, we are not persuaded that Equitable’s compliance with the terms of the Initial Settlement Agreement is relevant to the reduction of the civil penalty imposed by our May 2010 Order.     Section 192.907(a) of the federal gas pipeline safety regulations, addressed above, 
49 C.F.R. § 192.907(a), has been in place for several years and there is no evidence that Equitable began to address compliance with this regulation until sometime after our November 2009 Order.  If proven, this would be simply unacceptable behavior by Equitable. 

As stated in our November 2009 Order, we strongly caution Equitable and our other jurisdictional utilities that we monitor safety violations carefully and track any trends in unsafe operational practices.  We intend to fully utilize our authority under the Code and our Regulations to deter unsafe practices.

Accordingly, based on our review of the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement, which renegotiated only the civil penalty portion of the Initial Settlement Agreement, we believe that the civil penalty of $5,000 is inadequate to deter future violations and is not in the public interest.  Thus, based on the factors regarding the alleged violations discussed above and the potential for the imposition of a much greater civil penalty, we shall reject the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement and return the matter to the Prosecutory Staff to take whatever further action may be warranted.
Lastly, since we are not approving the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement, we will not be issuing this Order for comment from interested parties as provided by our regulations at Section 3.113(b)(3).  As stated above, our proposed modification to the Initial Settlement Agreement was issued for comment on November 25, 2009.  Equitable filed comments in opposition to the proposed modification and withdrew its participation in the Initial Settlement Agreement. No comments were filed by any other interested parties.

In order to avoid a remand of this matter, we will allow Equitable to accept the $65,000 civil penalty originally set forth in the Commission’s November 25, 2009 Order.  If Equitable chooses to exercise this option, it should notify the Secretary of the Commission within 20 days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order.  If no such notice is received, this matter will be returned to the Bureau of Investigations and Enforcement to reexamine the facts and issues raised in the informal investigation and to take whatever further action may be warranted.

Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, after reviewing the terms of the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement, we conclude that approval thereof would not be in the public interest and would be inconsistent with the terms of our Policy Statement;  THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That the Renegotiated Settlement Agreement filed on             October 27, 2011, by the Commission’s Law Bureau Prosecutory Staff and the Gas Safety Division is rejected, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

2.	That if Equitable Gas Company does not choose to accept our proposed modification to the Initial Settlement Agreement by notice to the Secretary of the Commission within 20 days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order, the matter shall be returned to the Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement Prosecutory Staff to reexamine the facts and issues raised in the informal investigation and to take whatever further action may be warranted.


[image: ]							BY THE COMMISSION,

[bookmark: _GoBack]

							Rosemary Chiavetta
							Secretary


(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED: March 1, 2012

ORDER ENTERED:  March 2, 2012
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